THE COMMITTEE ON LEGAL ETHICS OF THE WEST VIRGINIA STATE BAR

v

DEAN E. LEWIS

(No. 13323)

Submitted May 16, 1973.

Decided June 26, 1973.

1. ATTORNEY AND CLIENT-

In a court proceeding prosecuted by the Committee on Legal Ethics of the West Virginia State Bar for the purpose of having suspended the license of an attorney to practice law for a designated period of time, the burden is on the Committee to prove by full, preponderating and clear evidence the charges contained in the complaint filed on behalf of the Committee.

2. ATTORNEY AND CLIENT-

Where the facts in a disciplinary proceeding establish by full, clear and preponderating evidence that an attorney dispatched an investigator to the scene of an accident without the benefit of a client and permitted the investigator to negotiate contracts of employment and correspond with potential clients on professional matters, the conduct of the attorney is in violation of the spirit of Canon 27 and Canon 28 of the Code of Professional Ethics, and such conduct is improper and not in keeping with the high standards required of an attorney in his relationships with clients and the public at large.

Disciplinary proceeding.

Public reprimand administered.

Davis & Nesius, K. Paul Davis, John J. Nesius, for complainant.

Rudolph L. DiTrapano, Charles W. Yeager, for defendant.

PER CURIAM:

This is a proceeding instituted by the Committee on Legal Ethics of the West Virginia State Bar, pursuant to

its authority under Part D of Article VI of the By-Laws of the West Virginia State Bar against Dean E. Lewis, an attorney at law, living and practicing his profession at Charleston, Kanawha County, West Virginia, and an active member of the West Virginia State Bar. The Committee seeks an order of this Court suspending the license of Lewis to practice law in this State for a period of one year.

The complaint, together with the verified report of the Committee, as an exhibit, was properly filed in this Court on February 9, 1973. Upon the complaint, this Court on February 12, 1973, issued a rule returnable February 27, 1973, commanding Lewis to appear before the Court at that time to show cause against the entry of an order suspending his license to practice law in this State for a period of one year.

Upon the return day of the rule the proceeding was continued generally, and on May 15, 1973, it was submitted for decision upon the complaint and its exhibits, including the testimony of witnesses adduced at hearings before the Committee on January 14, 1972, September 29, 1972, and November 17, 1972, (the latter two hearings consisting of numerous character witnesses testifying on behalf of the respondent), the numerous exhibits filed with the testimony at such hearings, and upon briefs and oral arguments of counsel for the Committee and for the respondent attorney.

The proceeding before the Committee resulted from an investigation conducted by a subcommittee of the Greenbrier County Bar Association as to the circumstances of the respondent attorney, whose practice primarily was in Charleston, representing plaintiffs in Greenbrier County. After the investigation, the Greenbrier County Bar Association filed a complaint against the respondent attorney with the Committee on Legal Ethics. Their investigation consisted primarily of interviews with certain widows of deceased miners who had become clients of the respondent attorney.

The principal case against the respondent attorney was developed at the January 14th hearing. At that time, the Greenbrier County Bar Association presented their investigation. The Ethics Committee took the testimony of the three widow-clients, Helen Johnston, Rowena Burdette and Hilda McQuain, and the testimony of the respondent attorney, Dean E. Lewis, and of his investigator, Eddie Lester.

The case involves contact of widows of deceased coal miners by Eddie Lester, an investigator employed by the respondent attorney, who was alleged by the Greenbrier County Bar Association to have solicited legal cases from the widows for the attorney. The miners were killed during a mine disaster in Hominy Falls, West Virginia on May 6, 1968. After Lester contacted three of the surviving widows of miners killed in this disaster, the widows employed the respondent attorney to pursue causes of action against certain defendants. Their actions were filed and tried by a jury in Greenbrier County by associates of the respondent attorney. The respondent was to participate in the division of any legal fees received.

Shortly after the disaster, the respondent had received a telephone call from some person in Boone County inquiring about the possibility of recovery for one of the non-fatal injuries of the disaster. The respondent could not remember the name of the person who called or who he was calling about nor the exact time of the call. He stated: "I have business over there (Boone County) and get calls from time to time, quite often about different legal things, and they asked me about a relative, as I recall, that was in this Hominy Falls disaster; and it was someone who had not gotten killed-some people survived—if there was any way that they could recover directly from the company. I advised them I didn't think there was any possibility, as I view Workmen's Compensation—which incidentally for the record, I never did handle—that it would have to be something wilful, as I understood it, to get in." Question: "To boil down your answer, you did not have a named client or

employment contract?" Answer: "That is exactly right,

The respondent Lewis, testified that as a result of this telephone call, he dispatched Eddie Lester, a former Charleston city policeman who had been an investigator for him for some years, to Greenbrier County to investigate the Hominy Falls tragedy. Neither Lewis nor his investigator Lester could remember the details of instructions given to Lester by Lewis detailing the nature of the investigation, what was to be investigated, etc. It is clear from the testimony of all three clients and from Lester that during his investigation he contacted each one of the widows who subsequently employed Lewis as their attorney, as well as the fourth widow who did not employ him. It was admitted by all that none of these ladies knew nor had heard of Lewis or Lester prior to the time Lester visited their individual homes. There is a conflict of testimony concerning whether the investigator Lester had form contracts of employment with him at the time of his initial approach to each of the women. There was also a conflict of testimony regarding whether the contract was signed during the initial visit or was later mailed to Lester after a subsequent telephone call from the women to Lester asking him to recommend an attorney. It was undisputed that he left a business card with the women. The conflict in evidence in the first place is between the initial testimony of the women and Lester. Secondly, a conflict exists between the testimony of the women given on direct examination from their testimony on cross-examination. The three women gave different versions of Lester's visits and the subsequent employment of Lewis. Their testimony also varied from their statements previously given to investigators from the Greenbrier County Bar Association. According to one version of their testimony, Lester produced the contract during his initial approach to them and filled in blank spaces; they retained it, forwarding it later to Lester for Lewis's approval. Another version of the testimony was that he merely left his business card and the three women together at a later date decided to call or write Lester requesting him to recommend an attorney. It was then that he asked Lewis to take the cases and forwarded the contracts to the women.

Lester admitted that the handwritten completion of the contingent fee form contract—the filling in of percentage fee amounts, and other pertinent information, was in his handwriting, but testified that it was completed in his office. Lester testified he never carried form contracts for Lewis and that Lewis would have terminated him from employment had he done so. Lester indicated that he did not disburse Lewis's calling cards under his present tenure of employment, but had done so in previous years. Mrs. Johnston, Mrs. Burdette and Mrs. McQuain testified that they were well satisfied with the services of Mr. Lewis's associate counsel who handled the matter, but that they had no contact with Lewis. The testimony of these three witnesses was equivocal and they admitted on cross-examination that inasmuch as four years had passed since the incident of employing Lewis they could not remember with specificity the details of executing the agreement.

The investigator, Lester, and Lewis both testified that Lester, at the time of the incident under consideration, was an employee of Black, Inc. Black, Inc., is owned solely by the respondent Lewis. As an employee of this corporation, Lester performed investigative work for both Lewis and other attorneys in the Charleston area. The office of Black, Inc., was in the same suite of offices with Lewis, and they shared the services of one secretary. Lester had access to Lewis's stationery in addition to having stationery of his own. Lester was paid from a separate account maintained by Black, Inc.; Black, Inc., obtaining its funds from both Lewis and other attorneys. Lester was paid a fixed salary with no bonus arrangements.

Lester testified that he forwarded the form contracts and medical authorizations to each of the three clients;

Sand Marie

that he dictated and signed the letter forwarding these documents on accepting the employment; and that he had Lewis sign the contracts. Lewis corroborated this testimony. The three letters forwarding the employment documents from Lester to each of the three clients were identical. They were written on stationery with letterhead of "Law Offices of Dean E. Lewis" with the address and telephone number. The letters referred to the contract and blank medical authorizations which were enclosed. The letters stated that pursuant to their (the women's) request he had contacted the Veterans Administration concerning benefits for them, and included an outline of Veterans Administration regulations possibly affecting the women. The letter concluded by saying that "we should be providing you additional information" and would be glad to assist in "handling your veterans claim, or any other matter". The letter was signed by Lester.

The complainant Ethics Committee concluded that Lewis's conduct is violative of Canon 27 and Canon 28 of the Code of Professional Ethics which was in effect at the time of the incidents complained of and is likewise violative of the provisions of DR 2-103 of Canon 2 of the Code of Professional Responsibility which replaced the Code of Professional Ethics effective July 1, 1970. These Canons, of course, relate to the improper obtaining of clients either by solicitation or other improper means. There is no doubt, of course, that an attorney may be suspended or disbarred for such improper conduct. State v. Smith, 84 W.Va. 59, 99 S.E. 332; 7 Am. Jur. 2d, Attorneys at Law, Section 40, page 67.

The complainant Ethics Committee produced both direct and circumstantial evidence that the investigator, Eddie Lester, solicited the legal business of the three women involved. Respondent attorney Lewis produced both direct and circumstantial evidence indicating that he did not solicit the legal representation of the three women. An attorney, of course, is responsible for the conduct of his investigator in such circumstances when such investigator is conducting his affairs either with

the explicit or implicit knowledge of the attorney. In re Mahan, 228 App. Div. 241, 239 N.Y.S. 392; In re Levine, 210 App. Div. 8, 205 N.Y.S. 589. In view of the long-standing relationship and unquestionable control over the working procedures of the investigator by the attorney, and reviewing all the circumstances of this case, there is sufficient inference of agreed agency to hold the attorney responsible for any action on the part of the investigator.

All of the direct evidence relating to solicitation, however, relied upon by the Ethics Committee consists of the testimony of the three widow-clients. It is true that each of these women testified at one time that Lester produced the form contracts on his first visit with them and discussed employment. However, they changed their testimony at the January 14th hearing and indicated either that the form contract was not produced then or that they did not remember whether it was or not. They all testified that the three of them subsequently contacted Lester by telephone or letter asking that he recommend an attorney. They indicated that prior to this contact there was no discussion by Lester relating to the employment of an attorney. Lester testified unequivocally that he made no solicitational approach and that he only recommended employment of Lewis as an attorney after the women contacted him specifically requesting such a recommendation.

In order to sustain a disciplinary charge against an attorney the evidence must be full, preponderating and clear. In the Matter of Hendricks, 155 W.Va. 516, 185 S.E.2d 336; The Committee on Legal Ethics v. Pietranton, 143 W.Va. 11, 99 S.E.2d 15. It is also true that "All proper intendments are in favor of the attorney, and reasonable doubts or conflicts in the evidence should be resolved in his favor * * * ." The Committee on Legal Ethics v. Pietranton, supra at 26, 99 S.E.2d at 23.

These are the majority rules governing the weighing of evidence in a disciplinary action against an attorney. 7 C.J.S., Attorney and Client, Section 33(3), pages 784-85;

7 Am. Jun. 2d, Attorneys at Law, Section 67, pages 89-90. In the instant case not only is the testimony of the three women not clear, full and preponderating, but each of them directly contradicted themselves on crucial points concerning the issue of solicitation by Lester. Inasmuch as the Ethics Committee relied to such an extent on this testimony to prove its charge of solicitation, we do not feel that this burden has been met. It is true that there is strong circumstantial evidence presented both by the Committee and by the respondent attorney which lends suspicion to the possibility that Lester may have solicited the legal business of the three women. On the other hand, there is some circumstantial evidence to the contrary: Lewis was phasing out his legal business at the time; strong character evidence by members of the Bench and Bar familiar with the attorney's practice indicating no such conduct in the past; respondent took no part in preparing or prosecuting cases; and that Lester apparently received no extra compensation.

Although the evidence adduced in this proceeding by the testimony of the three women evokes a suspicious set of circumstances, in view of the equivocating and contradictory nature of their testimony, such evidence could not sustain the charges of solicitation and stirring up litigation as being full, preponderating and clear evidence. The record amply demonstrates, however, by full, preponderating and clear evidence that the attorney's conduct of his legal affairs relating to the Hominy Falls matter was not entirely proper, and certainly not in the high standards required of an attorney in his relationship with clients and the public at large.

The respondent attorney admits that he directed his employee to investigate the mine accident without the benefit of "a named client or employment contract". While the evidence does not fully justify a finding that the actions of the investigator, acting under the direction of the respondent attorney, improperly influenced the widows in their decision to seek legal counsel or to employ the respondent attorney, the respondent attorney has

violated the spirit of Canon 27 and Canon 28 of the Code of Professional Ethics by setting into motion an investigation which led to interviews which were not warranted by his professional employment or any personal relations. It is, of course, perfectly proper and often desirable for attorneys to have non-legal employees such as clerical and investigative employees as long as such employment is for the legitimate furtherance of the legal business of appropriate clients. It is improper, however, for such investigator, as he did here, to use the stationery of the attorney and correspond with potential clients on legal matters which should involve solely the professional discretion and judgment of the attorney. It is clear from the testimony of Lester, and it is not denied by the attorney, that the investigator completed parts of the employment contract retaining the attorney. These parts of the contract related to identifying plaintiff and defendant, the contingent fee amounts, and other matters. The blanks were filled in by the investigator in ink, obviously using his own discretion. These admitted acts of the investigator indicate an undenied permission for the investigator Lester to exercise the discretion and judgment in a crucial area of the attorney-client relationship which should be exercised solely by the attorney. Such conduct by the attorney constitutes a violation of the spirit of Canon 27 and Canon 28 of the Code of Professional Ethics. Viewing the testimony in a light most favorable to the attorney, it is apparent that the attorney should have reviewed this affair more carefully before accepting employment. It should have been apparent to him that there were suspicious circumstances concerning the activities of his investigator requiring him to reject the employment.

In view of the above, it is our opinion that the attorney should not be suspended. In addition to the vacillating nature of the clients' testimony, other circumstances dictate a mitigated discipline; the other principal circumstance being the uncontested evidence of good character and the respondent's reputation for practicing

as an ethical attorney. It is our opinion, however, that the attorney should be publicly reprimanded for the improper conduct outlined in this opinion.

For reasons stated in this opinion, a public reprimand is hereby administered to Dean E. Lewis and he is ordered to reimburse the Committee on Legal Ethics of the West Virginia State Bar for their costs expended in this matter.

Public reprimand administered.

TERESA DAWN HARLAN

v.

GEORGE TRIPLETT, Judge, Circuit Court of Randolph County, West Virginia

(No. 13370)

Submitted June 19, 1973.

Decided July 3, 1973.

1. DIVORCE-RELIEF PENDENTE LITE-

With the passage of Code 1931, 48-2-13, as amended in 1969, the Legislature has now provided that preliminary relief in civil actions seeking resolution of marital difficulties is available either to the wife or the husband as, in the judgment of the trial court, factual presentations require.

2. DIVORCE-RELIEF PENDENTE LITE-

The award of relief pendente lite as respects: maintenance, money to prosecute or defend the action, custody and support of minor children, prevention of restraints on the personal liberty of a party, preservation of the estate of a party, and security to abide an order of the court is, by Code 1931, 48-2-13, as amended in 1969, within the sound discretion of the trial court.

On petition for writ of prohibition against the Randolph County Circuit Court attacking an order entered by that court pendente lite in a divorce action in which petitionerwife was plaintiff.

Writ denied.

[7-9] Only the Legislature can enact mulum prohibitum laws. West Virginia? Constitution, Article VI, Section 1, reposes the legislative power in the legislative department and only it can declare criminal, acts of persons which would be otherwise lawful. The Legislature cannot delegate its authority to enact criminal laws to an agency which is a unit of the executive branch of State government, nor can it, under the guise of a colorable delegation, permit the Board of Pharmacy to adopt a federal law which has not been given prior approval by the Legislature. Unfortunately, the Scott case must be overruled on this point, and it is our further opinion that Code 1931, 16-8B-1(1)(d), as amended, is unconstitutional on its face in that it purports to delegate to the Board of Pharmacy the power to declare, unlawful, drugs which may be designated as dangerous or habit forming by the federal government prospectively, in futuro, and without limitations. State v. Johnson, supra; See also, Cheney v. St. Louis S. W. Ry. Co., 239 Ark. 870, 394 S.W.2d 731 (1965); Dawson v. Hamilton, 314 S.W.2d 532 (Ky.1958); Seale v. McKennon, 215 Or. 562, 336 P.2d 340 (1959); Nostrand v. Balmer, 53 Wash.2d 460, 335 P.2d 10 (1959).

[10-12] Under the West Virginia Constitution, Article VI, Section 1, and Article V. Section 1-the latter insuring separation of powers among the legislative, the executive and judicial branches of government-enactment of criminal statutes is solely a legislative function. See State ex rel. Davis v. Oakley, W.Va., 191 S.E.2d 610 (1972); State ex rel. Myers v. Wood, 154 W.Va. 431, 175 S.E.2d 637 (1970); State v. Lantz, 90 W.Va. 738, 111 S.E. 766 (1922). The authority to enact laws, being exclusively a legislative function, cannot be transferred or abdicated to others. State v. Harrison, 130 W.Va. 246, 43 S.E. 2d 214 (1947). The constitutional prerequisite to a valid statute is that the law shall be complete when enacted. State ex rel. West Virginia Housing Development Fund

v. Copenhaver, 153 W.Va. 636, 171 S.E.2d 545 (1969).

As the section of the statute under which the appellant Susan Grinstead was indicted is void, so too, the indictment founded thereon is void. For these reasons, the judgment of the Circuit Court of Wood County is reversed and the case is remanded with directions that the indictment charging Susan Grinstead with crimes be quashed.

Reversed and remanded with directions.



In re W. Bernard SMITH, a member of the West Virginia State Bar.

No. 13493.

Supreme Court of Appenls of West Virginia.

July 30, 1974.

Disciplinary proceeding. The Supreme Court of Appeals, Berry, J., held that a federal conviction of conspiracy to cast fictitious votes for federal, state and local candidates in primary election constitutes conviction of crime involving moral turpitude, requiring annulment of license to practice law.

License annulled.

1. Attorney and Client \$39

Supreme Court of Appeals has mandatory duty to annul license of any attorney who has been convicted of any crime involving moral turpitude, upon proof of such conviction being presented to the Court in compliance with provisions of bylaws of State Bar. By-Laws of the State Bar, art. 6, §§ 23, 24.

Cite as 206 S.E.2d 920

2. Attorney and Client €=39

Commission of "crime involving moral turpitude," within State Bar bylaws relating to annulment of license to practice law, is conduct that is contrary to justice, honesty and good morals. By-Laws of the State Bar, art. 6, §§ 23, 24.

3. Attorney and Client \$39

A federal conviction of conspiracy to cast fictitious votes for federal, state and local candidates in primary election constitutes conviction of crime involving moral turpitude, requiring annulment of license to practice law. By-Laws of the State Bar, art. 6, §§ 23, 24: 18 U.S.C.A. § 241.

Syllabus by the Court

"Section 23, Part E, Article VI of the By-Laws of the West Virginia State Bar imposes upon any Court before which an attorney has been qualified a mandatory duty to annul the license of such attorney to practice law upon proof that he has been convicted of any crime involving moral turpitude." Point 2, syllabus, In The Matter of Mann, 151 W.Va. 644 [154 S. E.2d 860].

John O. Kizer, Charleston, for Legal Ethics Committee, The W. Va. State Bar. Beckett, Burford & James, R. H. Burford, Huntington, for W. Bernard Smith.

BERRY, Justice:

In this proceeding instituted by the Committee on Legal Ethics of the West Virginia State Bar, herein referred to as the Committee, pursuant to the provisions of Sections 23 and 24, Part E, of Article VI of the By-Laws of the West Virginia State Bar, the Committee seeks to have this Court annul the license to practice law of W. Bernard Smith, a duly licensed attorney and member of the West Virginia State Bar.

On September 13, 1971 the respondent was found guilty of violating Section 241 of Title 18 of the United States Code. As a result of this conviction, W. Bernard Smith was sentenced to ten years in prison on October 14, 1971. Section 241 of Title 18 of the United States Code makes it unlawful to conspire to injure any citizen in the free exercise or enjoyment of any right or privilege secured by the Constitution or laws of the United States. The respondent and four other public officials in Logan County were indicted for conspiring to cast fictitious votes for federal, state and local candidates in the primary election in 1970.

W. Bernard Smith and his co-conspirators appealed their convictions to the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit. On June 26, 1973, the Fourth Circuit affirmed the conviction of each of the defendants. Subsequent thereto, the defendants filed a petition for writ of certiorari in the Supreme Court of the United States. On December 10, 1973 certiorari was granted. The Supreme Court of the United States affirmed the conviction of each of the defendants. Anderson v. United States, — U.S. —, 94 S.Ct. 2253, 41 L.Ed.2d 21.

On June 17, 1974, upon a letter of the Committee addressed to this Court dated June 12, 1974, with which were transmitted a certified copy of the indictment for a felony and a certified copy of an order of the United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia entered October 14, 1971, which adjudged W. Bernard Smith to be guilty of the offense charged in the indictment and which sentenced him to ten years imprisonment, and also a certified copy of an order of the United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia entered on June 5, 1974, which recited that Smith's conviction was affirmed by the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit on June 26, 1973 and that his conviction was also affirmed by the United

States Supreme Court on June 3, 1974, this Court issued a rule directed to Smith returnable July 9, 1974 to show cause why his license to practice law should not be annulled or suspended. On July 9, 1974, the return day, an answer was filed on behalf of W. Bernard Smith and the case was submitted for decision upon the aforesaid documents.

The respondent's answer admits the conviction and waived formal hearing. A request was made by the respondent to file, with the record of this case, a copy of the transcript of the testimony taken at the trial in the District Court, which is denied, but the Court permits such copy to be lodged in the office of the Clerk of the Court.

The pertinent parts of Sections 23 and 24. Part E, of Article VI of the By-Laws of the West Virginia State Bar, under which this proceeding was instituted, provide as follows:

§ 23

Any court before which any attorney has been qualified, upon proof that he has been convicted-

- (a) Of any crime involving moral turpitude or professional unfitness; or,
- (b) * * * shall annul his license to practice law.

§ 24

In any proceeding in any court, before which an attorney has been qualified, to suspend or annul the license of any such attorney because of his conviction of any crime or crimes mentioned in section twenty-three or in this section twentyfour, a certified copy of the order or judgment of conviction shall be conclusive evidence of guilt of the crime or crimes of which the attorney has been convicted. * * *

The only question presented in this proceeding is whether the respondent has been convicted of a crime involving moral turpitude or professional unfitness requiring the annulment of his license to practice law.

[1] It has been repeatedly held that this Court has a mandatory duty to annul the license of any attorney who has been convicted of any crime involving moral turpitude upon proof of such conviction being presented to the Court in compliance with the provisions of the By-Laws of the West Virginia State Bar.

It was held in point 2 of the syllabus of the case of In The Matter of Mann, 151 W.Va. 644, 154 S.E.2d 860, that:

Section 23, Part E, Article VI of the By-Laws of the West Virginia State Bar imposes upon any court before which an attorney has been qualified a mandatory duty to annul the license of such attorney to practice law upon proof that he has been convicted of any crime involving moral turpitude.

The respondent was convicted of violating Section 241 of Title 18, United States Code, which makes it a crime for two or more persons to conspire to injure any citizen in the free exercise of his federal constitutional rights secured by the Constitution or laws of the United States. The indictment charged that the respondent Smith and his codefendants caused "fraudulent and fictitious votes to be cast * * * all with the purpose and intent that said illegal, fraudulent, and fictitious ballots would be counted, returned and certified as a part of the total vote cast * * *." In other words, he was charged with "stuffing" the ballot box with fraudulent and fictitious ballots,

It has been held by this Court that a conviction on the charge of wilfully attempting to evade and defeat federal income taxes is a conviction of a crime involving moral turpitude making it mandatory to annul the license of an attorney convicted of such offense. In The Matter of Mann, supra; In The Matter of Trent, 154 W.Va. 333, 175 S.E.2d 461.

The conviction of conspiracy to commit bribery and bribery of a juror, in violation of Title 18, sections 1503, 371, 201(b) and 2, United States Code, is a conviction involving moral turpitude requiring the annulment of the license to practice law. In The Matter of Barron, W.Va., 181 S.E.2d 273; In re Brown, W.Va., 197 S.E.2d 814.

Convictions of conspiracy to bribe public officials and interstate transportation in aid of racketeering enterprises were held to be crimes involving moral turpitude and require the annulment of the license to practice law. In re Robertson, W.Va., 194 S.E.2d 650.

A conviction of a charge of using the mails to defraud has been held to be a crime involving moral turpitude requiring the annulment of the license to practice law. In re West, W.Va., 186 S.E.2d 776; In re Berzito, W.Va., 192 S.E.2d 227.

- [2] The commission of a crime involving moral turpitude has been defined in many disbarment proceedings as conduct that is contrary to justice, honesty and good morals. In re West, supra; In re Hatch, 10 Cal.2d 147, 73 P.2d 885; In re Carr, 377 III. 140, 36 N.E.2d 243.
- [3] Certainly, if the crimes in the cases cited above involve moral turpitude, requiring the annulment of the license to practice law, the crime in the instant case involves moral turpitude and warrants the annulment of the license of the respondent to practice law.'

It has been consistently held that the conviction of a crime wherein fraud is an element involves moral turpitude. In The Matter of Mann, supra; In re West, supra; In re Teitelbaum, 13 III.2d 586, 150 N.E.2d 873; In re Eaton, 14 III.2d 338, 152 N.E.2d 850. The crime for which the respondent was convicted clearly involves an element of fraud, and is so stated in the indictment upon which he was tried and convicted, and thus this crime unquestionably involves manaly turpitude, which makes

it mandatory upon this Court to annul the license of the respondent.

For the reasons set out herein, the license of W. Bernard Smith to practice law is annulled.

License annulled.



STATE of West Virginia

٧.

Dorothy Corinne GREEN.

No. 13359.

Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia.

July 23, 1974.

Defendant was convicted in the Circuit Court, Jefferson County, Vance E. Sencindiver, J., of second-degree murder, and she appealed. The Supreme Court of Appeals, Berry, J., held that where there was competent evidence tending to show that the defendant believed, and had reasonable grounds to believe, that she was in danger of losing her life or suffering great bodily harm at the hands of several assailants acting together, she was privileged to defend against any or all of said assailants, and it was reversible error for the trial court to refuse to instruct the jury to that effect.

Reversed; verdict set aside; new trial awarded.

I. Homicide @101

If defendant fired bullet intended for alleged assailant but hit uninvolved third party, it would not excuse an intentional homicide, but the same defenses would be available to the defendant as if she had killed alleged assailant.